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1                    PROCEEDINGS

2   (Exhibits 1-4 premarked for identification.)

3               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Today is

4     Monday, August 15, 2016.  This is a

5     Massachusetts Gaming Commission hearing.  And

6     my name is David Murray, and I am the

7     Commission's dually appointed hearing officer

8     for this hearing.

9               We have a single matter scheduled

10     for today, which is an appeal of Mr. Daniel

11     Sumner of a ruling by the Plainridge Board of

12     Judges that in the first race of Plainridge

13     on June 28, 2016, while driving the Number 2

14     horse, he allowed the Number 2 horse to

15     interfere with the Number 1 horse by hitting

16     its tire thereby causing a flat tire which

17     resulted in the Number 1 horse being unto

18     able finish the race.

19               Mr. Sumner's contention on appeal

20     is that he did nothing wrong.  Are you

21     represented by a lawyer, Mr. Sumner?

22               THE WITNESS:  No, sir.

23               THE HEARING OFFICER:  So this is an

24     adjudicatory hearing, and it will be
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1     conducted in accordance with Chapter 30A of

2     the Massachusetts General Laws and with 801

3     CMR Section 1.02, which are the informal fair

4     hearing rules.

5               The procedure will be as follows:

6     I will here from first the Commission's

7     attorney, Mr. Stempeck, as to the correctness

8     of the judges' ruling.  He may make an

9     opening statement, call witnesses, and make a

10     closing statement.  If he calls any

11     witnesses, Mr. Sumner, you will be able to

12     cross-examine those witnesses.

13               When Mr. Stempeck is finished

14     putting on his case, Mr. Sumner may then make

15     an opening statement.  You may testify on

16     your own behalf and call witnesses if you

17     wish, but if you do testify, Mr. Stempeck

18     will have an opportunity to cross-examine you

19     or any witnesses that you call.

20               When you have finished putting on

21     your case, I will ask Mr. Stempeck to make a

22     closing argument, and then I will ask you

23     whether you wish to make a closing argument,

24     giving you the last word.
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1               I will now swear any witnesses who

2     are to testify in this hearing, so all those

3     who will be testifying please rise, including

4     you, Mr. Sumner.

5   (DANIEL SUMNER and SALVATOR PANZERA, sworn an

6                      oath.)

7               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Sumner,

8     would you please identify yourself for the

9     record by stating your name and your address.

10               THE WITNESS:  My name is Daniel

11     Sumner.  I live in North Attleboro, Mass.

12               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

13               Mr. Stempeck, please proceed.

14               MR. STEMPECK:  This is a fairly

15     straightforward matter.  The evidence is

16     going to show that Mr. Sumner's horse made

17     contact with the right wheel of the sulky

18     driven by Mr. Ron Cushing in a race on

19     June 28, 2016, which caused Mr. Curbing's

20     sulky to suffer a flat tire and force him to

21     pull out of the race shortly after impact.

22     That particular contact was in violation of

23     the U.S. Trotting Association Rule 18.01(b),

24     prohibiting interference with another horse
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1     or driver.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission

2     has adopted the U.S. Trotting Association's

3     rules pursuant to its regulations,

4     Section 205 CMR 3.01.

5               In support of the unanimous finding

6     by the three judges at the Plainridge

7     Racetrack, we're going to review, through the

8     aid of testimony as well as written

9     documentation, several different accounts of

10     this particular violation.  That includes

11     video evidence of the race, which will show

12     during the Gaming Commission's case, as well

13     as the written account of Plainridge Park

14     control judge Richard Flanders; the written

15     account of the other driver in the matter who

16     suffered the flat tire, Ronald Curbing; as

17     well as the written account and observations

18     of the former head judge, Robert Coberley.

19     I'll also ask Salvator Panzera, the current

20     head judge of Plainridge, for his

21     observations as he was a percipient observer

22     on that day.

23               All this evidence will support the

24     findings of the Massachusetts Gaming
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1     Commission and the violation that they lodged

2     against Mr. Sumner on that date in question.

3               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Do you

4     want to mark some documents?

5               MR. STEMPECK:  I've premarked all

6     of the exhibits.  I'll walk through them with

7     Mr. Panzera as the witness as he's familiar

8     with all those and the original source

9     materials.

10               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Why don't we

11     ask at this stage, Mr. Sumner, to shorten the

12     process here, to have a look at these

13     premarked documents and to say whether he has

14     any objections.

15               MR. STEMPECK:  Those were all sent

16     to Mr. Sumner.  I'm going to have this marked

17     as Exhibit 5, this is the CD ROM video that's

18     in the computer.

19      (Exhibit 5 marked for identification.)

20               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Have you seen

21     all those documents before, Mr. Sumner?

22               MR. SUMNER:  I saw everything

23     except the photos till now.

24               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Do you have
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1     any objection to any of those documents?  I'm

2     assuming, Mr. Stempeck, you're going to offer

3     them.

4               MR. STEMPECK:  I'm going offer all

5     five exhibits into evidence.

6               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Have you any

7     objection to it?

8               THE WITNESS:  No.

9               MR. STEMPECK:  And just for the

10     record, we did send the photographs to

11     Mr. Sumner on August 9th, as the exhibit

12     demonstrates.

13               THE WITNESS:  I got everything else

14     but that.

15               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Because

16     there's no objection, it's immaterial.

17               MR. STEMPECK:  I'd like to start by

18     calling my first witness, Mr. Panzera.

19               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sure.

20

21                 DIRECT EXAMINATION

22 BY MR. STEMPECK:

23        Q.     Mr. Panzera, could you give your

24 full name for the record?
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1        A.     Sure.  My name is Salvator Panzera,

2 Jr.

3        Q.     And what's your current title, your

4 position at Plainridge?

5        A.     My current title is associate

6 racing judge at Plainridge Park Casino.

7        Q.     How long have you been an associate

8 racing judge there?

9        A.     I started officiating races back in

10 1992 at Foxboro Park, which is in Foxboro,

11 Massachusetts.  I was employed there as associate

12 judge from 1992 until its closing, which I believe

13 was around 1997.  There was a little bit of a time

14 where I did not participate in any judging

15 activity.  There wasn't a local racetrack open at

16 that time.  Sometime in the early 2000s, 2000 or

17 so, Plainridge Race Course at that time, as it was

18 referred to, opened up.  I worked part time there

19 as an alternate judge from its inception probably

20 until 2013 when the new gaming commission was

21 established, and I've worked there full-time as

22 associate judge from 2013 until present, and right

23 now, I am the interim -- I guess you could call

24 it, the interim presiding judge at Plainridge Park
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1 and Casino because of the absence of Mr. Coberley.

2        Q.     Is it fair to say in your career as

3 a judge, you've observed hundreds, if not

4 thousands, of races?

5        A.     I would say many thousands.  When I

6 worked at Foxboro Park, we raced approximately

7 five days a week.  And most of those days -- or

8 evenings that were raced, because there were

9 evenings there, most of those evenings we

10 conducted probably maybe 9 to 11 races, and some

11 days we actually had double cards where we had two

12 seven-race cards that we conducted.  So in

13 addition to those thousands of races, I also

14 observed and officiated many qualifier races also.

15               THE HEARING OFFICER:  So is

16     Mr. Coberley no longer a judge?

17               THE WITNESS:  He is no longer, sir.

18 BY MR. STEMPECK:

19        Q.     Did you observe this particular

20 race involving Mr. Sumner on June 28th, 2016?

21        A.     Yes, I did, sir.  I was in the

22 stand at that time along with Mr. Coberley and

23 also the presiding judge who works for the

24 association, Annmarie Mancini.
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1        Q.     Can you describe what you observed

2 that day?

3        A.     Well, basically the gate swung.  If

4 memory serves correct, it was a five-horse field.

5 And Mr. Cushing was on the 1 and Mr. Sumner was on

6 the Number 2 horse, and Mr. Cushing, along with

7 Mr. Sumner, left.  I believe they were probably

8 both vying for the lead.  Mr. Cushing got the jump

9 on him, got to the lead, and probably somewhere

10 around the eighth pole, Mr. Sumner, I'm sure, made

11 a judgment on his behalf that he wasn't going to

12 be able to get to the front, so he decided to

13 slide over or slip into the hole, as one would say

14 in the race industry.  And in doing so, maybe a

15 slight misjudgment on his part, his horse's hoof

16 made contact with Mr. Cushing's wheel, and hence,

17 blew the tire out.

18               Shortly after that happened, we

19 could see Mr. Cushing look down and to the right.

20 He knew his tire obviously was blown.  He came up

21 with his head, shook his head in disgust.

22               Shortly following that, the

23 starter, who was also the patrol judge, so he's a

24 fourth set of eyes for the judges, radioed to us
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1 that while Mr. Sumner was sliding or slipping or

2 dropping into the hole, he struck the tire of the

3 horse of Mr. Cushing allowing the tire to go flat,

4 hence Mr. Cushing was not able to complete the

5 race.  He pulled up somewhere around the half and

6 did not finish.

7               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Just let me

8     interrupt here.  Is it your testimony,

9     Mr. Panzera, that you actually saw the impact

10     of the hoof with the sulky wheel?

11               THE WITNESS:  It's hard to tell it

12     when you look at it.  I'm looking with a set

13     of binoculars.  There's three judges there.

14     One judge watches the TV.  The other two

15     judges watch with the binoculars.

16               THE HEARING OFFICER:  What were you

17     doing?

18               THE WITNESS:  I was watching with

19     the binoculars, sir.

20               THE HEARING OFFICER:  So you

21     actually saw impact?

22               THE WITNESS:  I saw what appeared

23     to be impact.  Once we had the opportunity

24     because of the sophisticated equipment that
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1     we have at our disposal in the stand, we were

2     able to run the film from various angles.  We

3     could stop it, slow it down, still it.  And

4     in doing so, we made a decision, a clear

5     decision, that there was impact from the hoof

6     to the tire.

7               THE HEARING OFFICER:  When you saw

8     through the binoculars what appeared to you

9     to be impact, did you immediately take any

10     action?

11               THE WITNESS:  Strictly --

12               THE HEARING OFFICER:  There were

13     two other people with you.

14               THE WITNESS:  Right.  Shortly

15     following that, we got the radio from the

16     starter informing us we have to finish the

17     race.  At the completion of the actual

18     running of the race, there was an objection

19     that was lodged by the driver of the

20     Number 1, Mr. Cushing.  We put an objection

21     on the board, and we also put the inquiry

22     sign on the board at the same time.

23               THE HEARING OFFICER:  And then you

24     went to --
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1               THE WITNESS:  And then we proceeded

2     to view all angles of the particular

3     infraction that took place and then made a

4     decision, which was a unanimous decision.

5               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

6               THE WITNESS:  You're welcome, sir.

7 BY MR. STEMPECK:

8        Q.     Mr. Panzera, I'm just going to have

9 you identify some of the documents for the record

10 just so it will be clear if we ever have to this

11 look back at this transcript.  What we had marked

12 as Exhibit No. 1 for the Sumner appeal was a

13 letter dated July 29th, 2016 to Mr. Sumner, and it

14 enclosed a few attachments and that's what I'm

15 going to ask you about.

16               The first attachment is titled

17 "Appeal/Request for Hearing."  Can you just tell

18 me what this document is, sir?

19        A.     Yes.  Basically, this was an appeal

20 form that Mr. Sumner filled out based on the

21 incident that took place.  If you'd like me to

22 read it for the record, I can certainly do so.

23 This was written by Mr. Sumner.  These are his

24 words, reason for believing.  You're entitled to a
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1 hearing.  Judge Bob Coberley, who, at that time,

2 was the presiding judge -- I'm sorry, the chief

3 judge.  It said, "I hit Ron Cushing's wheel with

4 my horse's foot causing his tire to blow and said

5 it caused interference and fined me $100 and was

6 placed disqualified.  I am appealing the fine and

7 the placing.  After watching the film at hearing,

8 I'm confident I did nothing wrong."

9        Q.     And Mr. Panzera, is that your

10 signature down the bottom under the date?

11        A.     Yes.

12        Q.     And the date of the appeal, it

13 looks like Mr. Sumner filed this on July 5, 2016?

14        A.     Correct.  That has to be filed in

15 the office in our office at Plainridge Park

16 Casino.

17        Q.     So it wasn't the day of the actual

18 race that you filed this?

19        A.     Correct.  The date of the race I

20 think it was 6/28/2016.  He has ten days from the

21 day of a --

22        Q.     Decision by the judges?

23        A.     Final decision by the judges,

24 correct.
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1        Q.     Can you explain to me the process

2 for how judges make that first decision on the day

3 of the race?

4        A.     Okay.  After we receive the radio

5 from Mr. Flanders, who was the starter and also

6 the patrol judge, as I stated earlier, and having

7 the opportunity to watch the various angles of the

8 particular incident that took place, and

9 discussing it, we made a unanimous decision that

10 he did, in fact, hit the tire.

11               One thing I may want to add, we did

12 have a conversation with Mr. Cushing prior to

13 going official on the race and making any placing.

14 Because since he lodged an objection, he has the

15 right to be heard.  He called us upstairs in the

16 stand.  We had a conversation with him, and he

17 confirmed the fact that Mr. Sumner had struck his

18 tire.

19        Q.     And on Sumner Exhibit No. 1, the

20 second attachment here is titled "Ruling."  Is

21 this the ruling that the three judges ruled on?

22        A.     Yes.  This is the actual ruling.

23 This particular one is ruling 104816.  It

24 basically states the Massachusetts rule,
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1 205 CMR 3.  And obviously we adopted the USTA

2 rule.  It's USTA Rule 1801(b).  While driving

3 Number 2, Kit Kat DuRuisseau, in the first race at

4 Plainridge Park Casino on 6/28/2016, after the

5 start, Mr. Sumner allowed his horse to hit the

6 tire of the Number 1 horse, Wonder Why, causing a

7 flat tire and was unable to finish, therefore

8 causing interference.  Finished third and was

9 placed unplaced disqualified 205 CMR 210.  All

10 fines should be paid within 48 hours after

11 imposition.  And then, once again, all appeals are

12 to be filed in writing at the office of MGC within

13 ten days.

14        Q.     And one of those signatures is

15 yours, Mr. Panzera?

16        A.     Right.  There are three signatures.

17 The first one is Mr. Coberley's; the second one is

18 Annmarie Mancini, the presiding judge; and then

19 mine is the last one, sir.

20        Q.     So at the actual three-judge

21 hearing, the date of the incident, did you show

22 Mr. Sumner the video?

23        A.     Yes.  And even after --

24               MR. SUMNER:  Not the day of the
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1     incident, you didn't.

2               THE HEARING OFFICER:  No.

3     Mr. Sumner, you cannot do that.  You will

4     have your own time.

5        A.     At the hearing that we conducted?

6        Q.     Let me rephrase the question.

7        A.     Sure.

8        Q.     At some point, did you show

9 Mr. Sumner the video that you helped to use to

10 make your determination as the judge?

11        A.     Yes, sir, we did.

12        Q.     Was that the date of the incident

13 or sometime other?

14        A.     It was the date of the hearing.

15        Q.     The date of the hearing?

16        A.     The hearing.

17        Q.     Was the hearing June 28, the same

18 day as the race?

19        A.     The hearing date was --

20               MR. SUMNER:  No.  It was a

21     Thursday.

22        A.     It was probably within a few days

23 after the race.

24               MR. SUMNER:  I think it was --
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1               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Sumner.

2               MR. SUMNER:  Well, he's asking me

3     when hearing was.

4               THE HEARING OFFICER:  No.  He

5     cannot ask you.

6               MR. STEMPECK:  We like to conduct

7     -- Only one person can be heard at a time

8     because the stenographer can only record one

9     person talking at a time.  So if anyone else

10     is talking, whether it is Mr. Murray or

11     Mr. Sumner, just try to keep it that way.

12 BY MR. STEMPECK:

13        Q.     Go ahead, Mr. Panzera.  You were

14 explaining something.

15        A.     Once there is a -- If we want to

16 pass down a fine, a suspension, or write up a

17 ruling, whatever the case may be, once an

18 infraction takes place, there is going to be a

19 placement.  And the horsemen, we typically call

20 them in for a hearing.  We try to conduct the

21 hearing as quickly as we possibly can.  So

22 depending upon where the race dates fall.  We

23 presently race Monday, Tuesday, and Thursday.  So

24 if it happens on a Tuesday, sometimes the hearing,
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1 obviously, wouldn't be conducted until probably

2 Thursday, the next available race date, at the

3 convenience, obviously, of the horseman.  We try

4 to make it convenient for all involved, but we try

5 to do it and conduct it expedited as quickly as

6 possible.

7        Q.     After you showed Mr. Sumner the

8 video that you used to help you reach your

9 decision about the ruling, what was his

10 explanation for the incident?

11        A.     He didn't, obviously, agree with

12 our decision.  And his contention was that he did

13 not strike the tire of Mr. Cushing.

14        Q.     So he denied that any impact had

15 been made to the tire?

16        A.     Correct.

17        Q.     The patrol judge, Mr. Flanders,

18 where is he actually sitting at the time the race

19 was taking place?

20        A.     Okay.  There is a gate.  The horses

21 are behind the gate.  Once he says go, the gates

22 close.  He takes off, speeds up, pulls up to the

23 outside, and then he patrols from there, follows

24 them around the racetrack.  If the car is facing
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1 that way (indicating), he's facing the other way

2 sitting watching, observing.  So he's watching the

3 race as it goes, almost like at a funeral, as they

4 go around.

5        Q.     So he's in the vehicle that has the

6 gate attached to it?

7        A.     Correct.

8        Q.     He's facing the opposite direction

9 the vehicle's driving in?

10        A.     Correct.

11        Q.     So he's facing the front of the

12 horses as they're coming towards --

13        A.     That's correct.

14        Q.     And he paces them through the race?

15        A.     Right.  Correct.

16        Q.     And Sumner Exhibit No. 2 was

17 another letter to Mr. Sumner dated August 2, 2016,

18 which enclosed a statement by Mr. Flanders, and a

19 statement by Mr. Cushing.  Have you seen these

20 statements before, Mr. Panzera?

21        A.     I have.  I was the person

22 responsible for requesting them.

23               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Stempeck,

24     are you going to offer that?
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1               MR. STEMPECK:  Yes.  I'm going to

2     offer Exhibit No. 1, which we had just gone

3     through, which is the letter dated July 29th

4     and its associated attachments.  I'll offer

5     that as evidence into the record.

6               THE HEARING OFFICER:  So admitted.

7 BY MR. STEMPECK:

8        Q.     Getting back to Exhibit No. 2 here.

9 So I think you just confirmed you had seen

10 Mr. Flanders's statement previous to today?

11        A.     Yes.  I actually called

12 Mr. Flanders and asked him if he would -- if he

13 could be present, and he said he could not.  And I

14 asked him if he would be so kind if he would be

15 willing to draw up actually this report stating

16 actually what happened.  He said no problem, and

17 he did so.  And I have it in front of me.  It's

18 from Richard Flanders, as patrol judge at

19 Plainridge Park on the 28th day of June in the

20 first race.

21               "I did notify the judges of contact

22 around the eighth pole between the Number 2 driven

23 by DT Sumner, and Number 1 driven by Ron Cushing.

24 While Mr. Sumner was crossing over, he did hit the
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1 wheel of Mr. Cushing causing his tire to blow.

2 Mr. Cushing did pull his horse up and did not

3 finish.  Richard Flanders, signed Richard

4 Flanders."  And then notarized.

5        Q.     And so this written statement is

6 consistent with what Mr. Flanders told you on the

7 day of the race?

8        A.     One hundred percent consistent.

9        Q.     And he radioed up to you from the

10 actual track?

11        A.     Correct.

12        Q.     The second attachment to Exhibit

13 No. 2 is a handwritten statement by Mr. Cushing.

14 Have you seen the statement before today,

15 Mr. Panzera?

16        A.     Yes, I have.  I also reached out to

17 Mr. Cushing to ask if he could kindly draw up an

18 affidavit for us.  This is his.  It says, "In the

19 first race on 6/28/2016 I was driving my horse, I

20 Wonder Why.  I was leading the race, and

21 Mr. Sumner driving his horse, Kit Kat DuRuisseau,

22 was attempting to sit in behind me.  He apparently

23 misjudged the clearance, and his horse's foot hit

24 and flattened my tire causing me to pull up and
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1 not finish."  Signed, Ronald Curbing.

2        Q.     Is that written statement

3 consistent with what Mr. Cushing told you on the

4 day of the race?

5        A.     It's consistent with what he told

6 us when we spoke to him down in the paddock before

7 taking any action and going official in the race.

8        Q.     So that was immediately after the

9 race concluded?

10        A.     Correct.

11               MR. STEMPECK:  Mr. Murray, I'd like

12     to admit into evidence Sumner Exhibit No. 2.

13               THE HEARING OFFICER:  In view of

14     the fact there is no objection to those

15     documents, so admitted.

16 BY MR. STEMPECK:

17        Q.     And Mr. Panzera, did you also talk

18 to Bob Coberley about his observations on the day

19 of the race?

20        A.     Yes.

21        Q.     And Sumner Exhibit No. 4 is a

22 fairly lengthily statement written by

23 Mr. Coberley.  Have you seen this document before?

24        A.     I have.  I was e-mailed to me.
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1        Q.     Rather than ask you to read that

2 entire document into the record, can you

3 essentially summarize what Mr. Coberley is saying.

4               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Well, I'd

5     rather he not do that.

6               MR. STEMPECK:  Okay.

7               THE HEARING OFFICER:  The statement

8     is what it is.

9               MR. STEMPECK:  Okay.

10 BY MR. STEMPECK:

11        Q.     Is it fair to say, Mr. Panzera,

12 that Mr. Coberley also observed the same

13 infraction you observed on that day?

14        A.     Yes, he did.

15        Q.     And he verifies as much in that

16 written statement that you're holding?

17        A.     Yes, he did.

18               MR. STEMPECK:  I'd like to have

19     Exhibit No. 4 Sumner admitted into the

20     record.

21               THE HEARING OFFICER:  No objection,

22     so admitted.

23 BY MR. STEMPECK:

24        Q.     And Mr. Panzera, finally
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1 Sumner Exhibit No. 3, this was a letter to

2 Mr. Sumner dated August 9, 2016 enclosing three

3 still photographs which I believe you, yourself,

4 took; is that correct?

5        A.     Correct.

6        Q.     And can you just explain what we

7 see in these particular photographs, Mr. Panzera?

8        A.     Yes.  So there are --

9        Q.     You can explain to Mr. Murray, our

10 hearing officer?

11        A.     There are three shots here that I

12 was able to -- only because I was unable to know

13 as to what type of technology we had as far as

14 being able to stop or still a frame, the actual

15 spot of the infraction, I was able to go down to

16 the TV room and have the manager there allow me to

17 take photos off of my phone to help substantiate

18 and prove what actually happened.  There are --

19               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Well, wait a

20     minute, Mr. Panzera.  Are these photographs,

21     the photographs taken with your phone --

22               THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.

23               THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- of an

24     image screen in your office?
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1               THE WITNESS:  No.  It was from the

2     TV room of the actual race that was conducted

3     on June 28th.

4               THE HEARING OFFICER:  But these are

5     images that were on a screen in your room?

6               THE WITNESS:  No.  They're in the

7     TV room on -- as we're going to see here in a

8     few moments, the running -- the actual review

9     of the running of the actual race.

10               THE HEARING OFFICER:  And you

11     simply took snapshots of that --

12               THE WITNESS:  Correct.  Yes, sir.

13               THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- televised

14     or --

15               THE WITNESS:  Correct.

16               THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- video --

17               THE WITNESS:  Video.  Thank you,

18     sir.

19               THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- of the

20     race?

21               THE WITNESS:  Correct, sir.  The

22     one to me that is most compelling of all of

23     them, and there are three, in trying to find

24     the one at the very moment that the hoof made



3543255a-4b31-4ad2-9899-671ced6664caElectronically signed by Amie Rumbo (501-013-137-1006)

Page 27

1     contact to the wheel is very difficult,

2     unless you're taking multiple shots.  The

3     first two are not that clear, but in my

4     personal and professional opinion, I think

5     this basically shows as clearly as can be the

6     hoof is buried into the tire, and a point

7     where the hoof is into the tire, you actually

8     lose some of the delineation of the blackness

9     of the tire where the hoof is making contact.

10     And actually when it makes contact, if a hoof

11     makes a contact with something when it stops,

12     something has give.  So the leg and the knee

13     is going to bend up.  So it bends up at one

14     point in time, and you can see the bend, see

15     the actual a little bit of a bend there, but

16     you can see it's into tire at that particular

17     point.

18               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Well, I hope

19     we're going to see rather clearer images

20     because I'm looking at this, and much of the

21     circumference of both wheels is smudged.  On

22     the left wheel, there is the kind of

23     interruption of the bright line of the tire.

24               THE WITNESS:  I see that, sir.
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1               THE HEARING OFFICER:  As well as on

2     the right wheel, but that presumably does not

3     indicate that the left wheel was

4     punctured or --

5               THE WITNESS:  Impacted in any way,

6     no, sir.  Correct.

7               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Anyway, carry

8     on.

9               THE WITNESS:  The shots on the

10     video will be much clearer than that.

11               MR. STEMPECK:  And in terms of the

12     record, I'd like to have Sumner Exhibit No. 3

13     admit entered into the evidence.

14               THE HEARING OFFICER:  So admitted.

15     No objection.

16               MR. STEMPECK:  And additionally, we

17     were able to have one more internal AV

18     personnel help us to cut the video footage,

19     slow it down so we can more focus on where we

20     believe the incident took place based on the

21     testimony and the information of Mr. Panzera.

22     So I'd like to show them and have Mr. Panzera

23     identify where the incident took place.

24     Without further adieu, I'll attempt to play
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1     the footage.

2                 (Video playing.)

3               THE WITNESS:  Mr. Cushing is on the

4     1 horse and Mr. Sumner is on the 2 horse

5     directly on the outside.

6               MR. STEMPECK:  If you want me to

7     pause it, let me know.

8               THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'd like you

9     to pause it.  Can you tell the distance

10     between the horses?  I see that the 1 horse

11     is closest to us.  Is there any way for you

12     to tell the distance between as we're looking

13     at it, the distance between the first horse

14     and the second horse?

15               THE WITNESS:  The distance?

16               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Not from

17     right to left but from front to back.

18               MR. STEMPECK:  So how far behind

19     the second horse was than the first?

20               THE HEARING OFFICER:  No, not how

21     far behind.  We're looking at this, in a

22     sense, two dimensionally, and I have no sense

23     of what a three dimensional.

24               MR. STEMPECK:  Let me suggest if I
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1     play through this, we'll see several

2     different angles, and it may resolve the

3     question.  I'll play through this without

4     stopping it once and that might answer the

5     question.

6               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

7               THE WITNESS:  If you could kindly

8     take it back.

9               MR. STEMPECK:  It's going to go

10     back to a different angle in a minute.  This

11     is several angles spliced together, so the

12     next portion will show different angles.

13     This is just the first normal speed of the

14     race running until after the tire blows off,

15     which is coming off shortly.  There goes the

16     tire.  The next section is going to be the

17     pan view and very slow motion at one percent

18     speed.  It is six percent speed.  And then we

19     have the different angles.  This is the front

20     stretch at one percent speed, so frame by

21     frame.  And then it'll go -- I think it goes

22     back to front stretch at six percent speed.

23              (Video stops playing.)

24 //
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1 BY MR. STEMPECK:

2        Q.     In any of the angles, did you

3 actually see the impact the hoof made to the

4 wheel?

5        A.     Yes.  There's one shot where the

6 hoof hits the wheel, and shortly after that, you

7 see Mr. Cushing look down because he knew his tire

8 had been struck and been hit, and if you went on

9 regular speed, his head comes up, and he shakes

10 his head in disgust.

11               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Before we see

12     that, are there any circumstances that you

13     have observed over the years a tire coming

14     off the sulky without being struck by any

15     object?

16               THE WITNESS:  There are times.  It

17     doesn't happen often, but there are times

18     when it can happen actually in a race, or the

19     horses come out in post parade, and a driver

20     can say they have to go back to the paddock

21     because they have a flat tire.  But tires

22     typically don't come off unless they blow or

23     they've been struck.

24               THE HEARING OFFICER:  But in your
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1     experience, it has happened?

2               THE WITNESS:  It has.  It's rare,

3     but it has happened, yes.

4               THE HEARING OFFICER:  So what I'd

5     like you to do, if you would, while you're

6     going through responding to Mr. Stempeck's

7     questions, is to point to me, point out two

8     things.  One, as far as you're concerned

9     where the impact takes place, and we can stop

10     it there; and secondly, whether there is

11     anything that you see that would suggest the

12     possibility, at any rate, of the tire coming

13     off without being impacted.  It's a long

14     question, but I hope that I've communicated

15     the two things that I'd like to see.

16               THE WITNESS:  I well understand

17     what you're asking, yes, sir.

18               MR. STEMPECK:  I'll replay it, and

19     per Mr. Murray's instruction, let me know

20     when you want me to pause the video.

21               THE WITNESS:  Can you take it back

22     also?  Do you have the ability to take it

23     back?

24               MR. STEMPECK:  To rewind, I don't
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1     know if we can from this footage.  I can try.

2                  (Video plays.)

3               THE WITNESS:  Right there.  If you

4     can take it back.

5               MR. STEMPECK:  Yes.  I saw --

6               THE WITNESS:  I don't know if you

7     can or not.

8               MR. STEMPECK:  It doesn't look like

9     we can.  I think I can only take it back and

10     then play it through again.

11               THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Hit...

12               THE HEARING OFFICER:  And which

13     hoof, the left or the right, in your

14     understanding?

15               THE WITNESS:  Hits it with his left

16     hoof.

17               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Left?

18               THE WITNESS:  Yes.

19               MR. STEMPECK:  We can play it

20     again.

21               THE WITNESS:  Because he's not

22     directly behind enough yet.

23               MR. STEMPECK:  And when it goes

24     through its slow motion, it may be easier to
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1     discern.  This goes through the chunk of the

2     race, so I'm going to advance until we get to

3     the slow motion portion of the incident.

4               THE WITNESS:  Mr. Sumner is not

5     directly behind him.  He's starting to slide

6     over, or drop down.

7               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Here?

8               THE WITNESS:  Here, correct.

9               THE HEARING OFFICER:  This is not

10     the point of impact; this is beginning to

11     slide down?

12               THE WITNESS:  He's beginning to

13     slide down.

14               THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right.

15               MR. STEMPECK:  Just tell me when to

16     pause it, Mr. Panzera.

17               THE WITNESS:  That was it right

18     there.  That was it right there.

19               MR. STEMPECK:  I got you.  I think

20     I just missed it.  We'll do the ultra slow

21     motion.  That's easier.

22               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Now, would

23     you pause it there, Mr. Stempeck.

24              (Video stops playing.)
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1               THE HEARING OFFICER:  The previous

2     frames, Mr. Panzera --

3               THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.

4               THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- show to

5     me, and please tell me if I'm wrong, the

6     horse's leg being fully extended and that

7     suggests to me that was fully extended from

8     our point of view behind the right wheel of

9     the sulky.

10               THE WITNESS:  It's on the outside

11     of the wheel.  Yes, sir, that's correct.

12               THE HEARING OFFICER:  And it's

13     equivocal, at least as I look at it, as to

14     whether or not there is any interference with

15     the wheel in that fully extended leg.  Am I

16     right in thinking that?

17               THE WITNESS:  In those particular

18     instances, you're a hundred percent correct.

19     Because the hoof and the leg is still on the

20     outside of the tire.  He's clearing the tire.

21               THE HEARING OFFICER:  So go on, if

22     you would, please.  And let us know when the

23     point of impact is displayed on the screen

24     there.
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1             (Video resumes playing.)

2               THE WITNESS:  There.

3               THE HEARING OFFICER:  That?

4               MR. STEMPECK:  The left --

5               THE WITNESS:  It's so hard -- May

6     I, sir?

7               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Is that the

8     point at which you say that there was impact?

9               THE WITNESS:  May I?

10               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sure.

11               (Video stops playing.)

12               THE WITNESS:  What's most difficult

13     on this particular, I can find it, but we're

14     unable to take it back a little step at a

15     time.  On our console in our stand, I can

16     bring it back step by step just not slow

17     motion, but a little step, just a little bit

18     at a time where we can find the hoof right in

19     the wheel.  But on this it's a little more

20     difficult, but there is contact.  But if we

21     can get it back to the point, we can see

22     that.

23               MR. STEMPECK:  I'll back it to the

24     slowest one.  That may be easiest when we go
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1     frame by frame.

2             (Video resumes playing.)

3               MR. STEMPECK:  I'll go at the start

4     of this section.  So after this.

5               THE WITNESS:  Right there.  I

6     believe that was the one.  It already came

7     back down.  Because if you let it run, you're

8     going to watch Mr. Cushing's reaction.

9               MR. STEMPECK:  I'll back up one

10     frame.

11               THE WITNESS:  On our console up in

12     our judges stand, we're able to still it and

13     stop it with hoof right into the tire, and

14     hence the reason why I attempted to take the

15     photos of mine on my phone off of the video

16     from the TV room.

17               MR. STEMPECK:  The rewind doesn't

18     seem to work.

19               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Could you let

20     it continue to run, please.

21               MR. STEMPECK:  Sure.

22               THE HEARING OFFICER:  If you could

23     just pause it there, Mr. Stempeck.

24               (Video stops playing.)
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1               THE HEARING OFFICER:  What I see,

2     Mr. Panzera, is at the point of impact, at

3     least what you say is the point of impact,

4     there is no reaction from Mr. Cushing.  There

5     are actually quite a few steps the horse

6     takes, both horses, the 1 and the 2 horse

7     without him, Mr. Cushing, reacting at all to

8     the point that you say impact occurs.  Does

9     that indicate one way or another anything to

10     you?

11               THE WITNESS:  Not necessarily.  He

12     looks down, looks back.  Maybe his reaction

13     was a little slow at that time.  But he --

14     after he brought his head down and he looked,

15     he brought his head and shook his head in

16     disgust.  He made it very clear to us that he

17     had been struck.

18               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

19               MR. STEMPECK:  I'll just play it

20     through again.  If you want me to stop at any

21     point, Mr. Panzera, just let me know.

22             (Video resumes playing.)

23               MR. STEMPECK:  When it goes to its

24     next speed, Mr. Panzera, also let me know if
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1     you can observe any wobbling of the wheel of

2     the lead horse.

3              (Video stops playing.)

4 BY MR. STEMPECK:

5        Q.     Okay.  Mr. Panzera, after observing

6 this video, is there any doubt in your mind that

7 the hoof made impact with the wheel as per --

8        A.     There's absolutely no doubt in my

9 mind whatsoever.  It wasn't just one person's

10 opinion solely just myself.  There were two other

11 judges.  We agreed unanimously.  There was the

12 testimony of the driver, and there was also the

13 testimony of the patrol judge that the same thing

14 had happened.  There was no inconsistencies

15 whatsoever.  We all totally and unanimously agreed

16 as to what transpired going to the eight pole.

17               MR. PANZERA:  I don't have any

18     other questions for Mr. Panzera.

19               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Sumner,

20     you get to ask Mr. Panzera any questions.

21

22                 CROSS-EXAMINATION

23 BY MR. SUMNER:

24        Q.     Now, when Mr. Cushing looked down,



3543255a-4b31-4ad2-9899-671ced6664caElectronically signed by Amie Rumbo (501-013-137-1006)

Page 40

1 he could have been looking because the tire just

2 blew; right or wrong?

3        A.     It's possible.

4        Q.     And to begin with, when the horse's

5 leg -- you know as well as I do, and you and

6 Mr. Coberley said at the hearing -- 90 percent of

7 the time, if my horse's foot hits the wheel, the

8 horse is -- it's just like this one going up here

9 and then they do this (indicating) because you're

10 not fully extended.  The horse's leg is not fully

11 extended, and the horse either takes a bad step or

12 makes a break; right or wrong?

13        A.     That --

14        Q.     Hitting the wheel with --

15               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Wait.

16     Mr. Sumner, if you ask him a question, you

17     have to let him answer.

18               MR. SUMNER:  No.  But hitting the

19     wheel.

20               THE HEARING OFFICER:  I understand,

21     but frame the question, ask it, and then

22     allow him to answer it.

23 BY MR. SUMNER:

24        Q.     When the horse's foot hits the
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1 wheel, he usually takes a bad step or makes a

2 break, and on that video right there, does it or

3 does it not show that horse being able to take

4 full extension without shortening stride at all

5 anywheres in that?

6        A.     There was one little bend in the

7 knee.  There was a bend --

8        Q.     Their foot bends.  That's when they

9 throw their foot out.

10        A.     That I --

11               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Wait.  Wait.

12     Gentlemen.

13               MR. SUMNER:  Sorry.

14               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Let's

15     establish some rules here.  I cannot conduct

16     this hearing if you're going to ask

17     questions, and Mr. Panzera is going to start

18     answering, and then you interrupt and start

19     asking other questions.  The way that we do

20     things here, and you've seen Mr. Stempeck do

21     it, you ask a question, you wait until the

22     witness finishes the answer that he's going

23     to give, and then ask another question.  Are

24     we clear?
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1               MR. SUMNER:  Yes.

2               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Good.  Go

3     ahead.  Ask your questions.

4 BY MR. SUMNER:

5        Q.     Now, did you see that, that horse

6 not being able to fully extend his horse's legs?

7        A.     Yes.  At one pint in time, the knee

8 was bent a little bit, was bent at point of

9 contact.  But as far as the contact of the hoof to

10 the tire, it depends on the severity.  Those

11 horses wear -- they wear shoes.  The point of the

12 shoe, it doesn't have to be -- the whole hoof

13 doesn't have to be buried into the tire, DT.  It

14 could just possibly be the edge of that shoe that

15 the horse wears just --

16               THE HEARING OFFICER:  I think the

17     question was whether or not you saw any false

18     step or bending, and you --

19               THE WITNESS:  Yes, I did.  As far

20     as the bending, I did.  Yes, I did.

21 BY MR. SUMNER:

22        Q.     Well, you said the knee bent.

23 Well, the horse has to bend the knee to go

24 forward.



3543255a-4b31-4ad2-9899-671ced6664caElectronically signed by Amie Rumbo (501-013-137-1006)

Page 43

1        A.     When --

2        Q.     The horse's knee has to go forward,

3 and on that video right there we all watched,

4 right or wrong, that horse never bent nothing, he

5 got his -- she had her foot fully -- both legs

6 fully extended every step she took, and we saw

7 that right as plain as day.

8               THE HEARING OFFICER:  I think what

9     Mr. Panzera is saying, that he disagrees with

10     what you've just said.

11               MR. SUMNER:  Yes.  And on his point

12     about the shoes, the shoes don't stick out.

13     They are completely rounded off even with the

14     horse's foot.  So there's no part of the shoe

15     in the front that sticks out where you can

16     hit it.

17               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Do you have

18     another question for him?

19               MR. SUMNER:  No, sir.

20               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Do you have

21     any redirect, Mr. Stempeck?

22

23 //

24 //
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1                RECROSS-EXAMINATION

2 BY MR. STEMPECK:

3        Q.     Mr. Panzera, can you just show us

4 by way of your photographs or if you want me to

5 replay the video where you see the bend in the

6 leg?

7        A.     I would just like to present this

8 particular photo from one of the exhibits that

9 shows there is a slight bend in the knee right

10 there.  There is a slight bend and that, in my

11 opinion, was where the contact was made.

12               MR. SUMNER:  I don't see no bend.

13     That horse's leg is straight out.

14               THE HEARING OFFICER:  And this is

15     the point as best you can tell --

16               THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.

17               THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- of impact?

18               THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.

19               MR. STEMPECK:  And just for the

20     record, that was Exhibit No. 3.  It was the

21     third photograph that was attached.  I don't

22     have any further questions.

23               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Do you have

24     any other witnesses?
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1               MR. STEMPECK:  I don't.

2               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

3     Mr. Sumner, it's your turn now.  You get to

4     tell us, other than what you've told us

5     already --

6               MR. SUMNER:  I mean, I've been

7     doing this --

8               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Wait.  Wait.

9     Wait.  Testify about what happened or

10     anything else you think that's relevant to

11     this question of whether or not your horse

12     interfered with the Number 1 horse by

13     impacting it.

14               MR. SUMNER:  I've been doing this a

15     long time, and I can tell if I've -- and I'm

16     not saying that -- I'm saying that I didn't

17     do it here, and I'm not saying that I

18     haven't.  It has happened, and you can feel

19     it when the horse -- your horse's foot hits

20     the wheel, because they do take the bad step

21     because it shortens their stride up because

22     their leg is not getting fully extended to

23     where they've got to put it down because it's

24     kind of like a look -- the pacers like these
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1     are go like a train [sic], you know what I

2     mean, side to side.  One side goes forward,

3     the other side goes back.  And you can tell

4     when their gait changes.  And the owner of

5     the horse --

6               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Before we get

7     to the owner of the horse, your testimony is

8     that there was no change in the gait?

9               MR. SUMNER:  In my horse's gait,

10     yes.

11               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Tell me about

12     the owner.

13               MR. SUMNER:  He was racing in

14     Bangor the night before, and Mr. Cushing had

15     tire trouble out there on the same wheel.

16               MR. STEMPECK:  I'm going to object

17     to this unsubstantiated testimony, but go

18     ahead.

19               THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'm going to

20     overrule the objection.

21               MR. STEMPECK:  Okay.

22               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Go ahead.

23               MR. SUMNER:  The owner, he called

24     me up when he found out that the horse was
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1     disqualified and stuff, Mr. Randy Smith.  He

2     said in the post parade, Mr. Cushing had to

3     go come back and change the same wheel the

4     night before because he was having tire

5     trouble.

6               THE HEARING OFFICER:  When did the

7     owner tell you this?

8               MR. SUMNER:  The day -- Wednesday.

9     After -- Wednesday, he called me Wednesday

10     because the race took place on Tuesday.

11               THE HEARING OFFICER:  So the day

12     after the race, the owner told you --

13               MR. SUMNER:  When I explained to

14     him what happened, and then he told me, well,

15     geez, Mr. Cushing had tire trouble and

16     da-da-da-da, and explained it.

17               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Was this

18     before the hearing before the board of

19     judges?

20               MR. SUMNER:  Yes.  And I brought it

21     up at the hearing, too.

22               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Did you put

23     it in writing at all?

24               MR. SUMNER:  It should have been on
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1     tape at the hearing.

2               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Is --

3               MR. SUMNER:  That Mr. Coberley --

4               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Is there any

5     reason why you left that out of your request

6     for --

7               MR. SUMNER:  Yeah.  I just ran out

8     of room where the lines were.

9               THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'm looking

10     at Exhibit 1 in your appeal and request for

11     hearing.  And you're saying it's not here

12     because you simply ran out of room?

13               MR. SUMNER:  Well, I didn't know

14     that I needed to put that in because I was

15     saying what the hearing was about, what took

16     place on the film here today.

17               THE HEARING OFFICER:  But didn't

18     you think that that was an important thing to

19     include as part of the background for

20     interpreting the video?

21               MR. SUMNER:  Well, Mr. Coberley,

22     when I mentioned it, he says, well, we're

23     going to disregard that because we didn't

24     have access to that information or whatever
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1     when I went to my hearing at the track.  He

2     just kind of dismissed it because he -- when

3     I brought it up that --

4               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Your

5     testimony is that Mr. Coberley said he's

6     going to disregard this piece of information

7     for what reason?

8               MR. SUMNER:  He just -- that was --

9     because he just said we didn't have access to

10     that information or whatever.  But I did

11     bring it up at the hearing.

12               And like you said, sir, like I

13     could feel it.  And like you said, I saw the

14     same thing you did when it was -- I was

15     already in behind Mr. Cushing when he looked

16     down and looked at his wheel, and then he

17     started screaming at me.

18               THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right.

19     You say in your appeal in request for hearing

20     the following:  "After watching film at

21     hearing, I'm confident I did nothing wrong."

22     Now, were you not confident prior to watching

23     the film that you had done something wrong?

24               MR. SUMNER:  No.  I was confident
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1     the whole time.  That's why I asked for a

2     hearing, because they fined me.  They called

3     me up on the phone, the judges, and said they

4     were going to fine me $100.  So I said I want

5     a hearing.  And we went to the hearing the

6     following Thursday afternoon and that's when

7     we just took all that and discussed it, and

8     that's when I saw the film for the first time

9     and that's when I realized that I could see

10     that my horse's feet and legs were all

11     completely fully extended and that's why I

12     requested a hearing because I didn't feel

13     that I hit his foot and wheel.

14               THE HEARING OFFICER:  So what this

15     sentence means, according to your testimony

16     here, is that the film that you watched at

17     the hearing confirmed your conviction that

18     you did nothing wrong?

19               MR. SUMNER:  Yes, sir.

20               THE HEARING OFFICER:  I see.

21               Do you have cross-examination?

22               MR. STEMPECK:  Is he all done?

23               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Do you want

24     to saying anything else?
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1               MR. SUMNER:  No.  I'm all done.

2               MR. STEMPECK:  Just before the

3     cross-examination, I forgot to acknowledge

4     that Exhibit No. 5, which is in the computer,

5     should be admitted into evidence.  That's the

6     CD ROM of the race.

7               THE HEARING OFFICER:  So admitted.

8

9                 CROSS-EXAMINATION

10 BY MR. STEMPECK:

11        Q.     Mr. Sumner, I just want to ask you

12 the few questions about this statement you made

13 about Mr. Cushing having tire trouble, and you

14 heard that through the owner?

15        A.     From the owner of the horse.

16        Q.     The owner of your horse?

17        A.     Yes.

18        Q.     When was this, again?

19        A.     Wednesday.  The following day after

20 the incident.

21        Q.     The day after the race?

22        A.     Yes.

23        Q.     And it's your testimony you brought

24 this up at the three-judge panel hearing?
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1        A.     Yes, sir.

2        Q.     But at no time did you memorialize

3 that fact in writing; is that correct?

4        A.     No.  Because it was all -- it gets

5 tape recorded.  Every hearing is tape recorded.

6        Q.     I understand.  But the answer to my

7 question as far as whether you put the information

8 in writing, no, you never put it in writing?

9        A.     No.

10        Q.     And you didn't put it on your

11 appeal form, right?

12        A.     No.

13        Q.     And it's your position when you

14 were moving into that second slot, your horse at

15 no time made impact with Mr. Cushing's wheel?

16        A.     Never.

17        Q.     So as far as you're concerned, the

18 three-judge panel, they all got it wrong?

19        A.     Yes.

20        Q.     The unanimous judges, they were all

21 in incorrect?

22        A.     Um-hmm.

23        Q.     Is that a yes?

24        A.     Yes.
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1        Q.     And beyond them, beyond the three

2 judges that got it wrong, Mr. Flanders, the patrol

3 judge, he also got it wrong; is that your

4 testimony?

5        A.     Yeah.  He's going 30 miles an hour

6 in the car.  What he heard and looked, he was the

7 same thing as like all the judges say.  When we

8 were watching Mr. Cushing look down is when his

9 tire blew on its own, and then he looked down and

10 started shaking his head.

11        Q.     Did you have a conversation with

12 Mr. Flanders?

13        A.     No.

14        Q.     So what you just said was your

15 hypothesis about why Mr. Flanders reached the

16 conclusion he did?

17        A.     Yeah.

18        Q.     So you don't know that for a fact?

19        A.     No.  Plus he's looking through the

20 start, the wings of the gate, too.

21        Q.     Bear with me.  Just answer the

22 question.  It's your contention Mr. Flanders, who

23 was looking directly at the horses, because he's

24 sitting facing rearwards in the vehicle, right,
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1 he's in the starter vehicle facing rearwards; is

2 that correct?

3        A.     He's facing rearwards, but they're

4 on the out -- he's like -- say these are the

5 horses here, the car's out here (indicating) so he

6 has to turn to the side one way or the other to be

7 able to see the horses.

8        Q.     But he's watching, his job is to

9 watch the horses?

10        A.     All of them.  Yeah.

11        Q.     He's at the same level as you; he's

12 not up in the box with the other judges?

13        A.     No.

14        Q.     And it's your contention that

15 Mr. Flanders also got his ruling wrong?

16        A.     Um-hmm.

17        Q.     Yes?

18        A.     Yes, sir.

19        Q.     So the three judges and

20 Mr. Flanders all got it wrong, right?

21        A.     Yes, sir.

22        Q.     And the three judges, Mr. Flanders,

23 and Mr. Cushing, who's actually in the race, he

24 also got it wrong; is that correct?
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1        A.     Yes, sir.

2        Q.     And that's your contention?

3        A.     Yes, sir.

4        Q.     So Mr. Cushing is making this up?

5        A.     Yeah.  To cover his own butt.

6        Q.     So you think he had some sort of

7 ulterior motive here to blame you?

8        A.     Yeah.  Yes.

9        Q.     And you think the judges have an

10 ulterior motive here?

11        A.     They call them as they see them.

12 We always have disagreements all the time.

13        Q.     Were you shown the video footage on

14 the day of the incident?

15        A.     No.

16        Q.     When did you first see the video

17 footage?

18        A.     At the hearing the following

19 Thursday.

20        Q.     Did you see the video footage from

21 multiple angles?

22        A.     Yes, I did.

23        Q.     Did you see the video footage at

24 full speed, slow speed, or just slow speed?
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1        A.     All of them.

2        Q.     So you saw it slowed down --

3        A.     Slowed down, head on, sideways.

4        Q.     And you disagreed with any --

5        A.     All of it.

6        Q.     Let me get the whole question out.

7 You disagreed with their conclusion that your

8 horse's hoof had made contact with Mr. Cushing's

9 wheel?

10        A.     Yes, I did.

11        Q.     Did you speak to Mr. Cushing after

12 the incident?

13        A.     No.

14        Q.     So he never talked to you or came

15 up to you after the race to say anything?

16        A.     No.

17        Q.     Despite the observations by the

18 three judges up in the box, Mr. Flanders, who's in

19 the pacing vehicle, and Mr. Cushing, that your

20 horse made contact with the wheel, it's your

21 contention that you made absolutely no contact

22 whatever, and the wheel just spontaneously blew?

23        A.     Yes, sir.

24               MR. STEMPECK:  That's all I have.
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1               THE WITNESS:  I've had it happen to

2     me before myself, tire just blow.

3               MR. STEMPECK:  That's all I have.

4               MR. PANZERA:  Sir, may I ask a

5     question?

6               THE HEARING OFFICER:  No, you may

7     not ask a question, but I have one for you.

8     Which is, you were at the hearing?

9               MR. PANZERA:  Yes, sir.

10               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Did

11     Mr. Sumner raise this issue about the

12     detective wheel?

13               THE WITNESS:  He did, sir.  But he

14     had nothing in writing other than just

15     hearsay.

16               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Did you

17     ask -- did anyone interview, on behalf of the

18     judges, the owner of Mr. Sumner's horse as to

19     what he saw up in Bangor?

20               MR. SUMNER:  Bangor, yes.

21               MR. PANZERA:  We did not, sir.

22               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Did you

23     interview Mr. Cushing in connection with this

24     allegation that there was something wrong



3543255a-4b31-4ad2-9899-671ced6664caElectronically signed by Amie Rumbo (501-013-137-1006)

Page 58

1     with the sulky wheel?

2               MR. PANZERA:  No, sir, we did not.

3               THE HEARING OFFICER:  And why

4     didn't you investigate his claim that there

5     wasn't contact, what happened was that the

6     sulky tire just blew, as it can?

7               MR. PANZERA:  We just felt it was

8     just hearsay.  It was something someone comes

9     to us and they come forward and they come

10     with some strong evidence, like something in

11     writing, then it's something we feel that we

12     should act upon, but it was hearsay, and we

13     felt it really wasn't relevant.

14               THE HEARING OFFICER:  If you had

15     interviewed, and this, obviously, is a

16     hypothetical question I'm about to ask you,

17     but if you had interviewed the horse's owner

18     and he had told you, yes, there was a problem

19     with a sulky's wheel or tire, would that have

20     caused you to think about what you saw in any

21     different way?

22               MR. PANZERA:  No, sir.  Because if

23     they had a problem with the tire that

24     particular evening, I don't know what the
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1     issue was with the tire, Number 1, but if the

2     tire was changed, they changed the tire and

3     they put on a new tire, presumably there

4     shouldn't be a problem with another one.  You

5     wouldn't the expect there to be.  If I drive

6     a car and I have a problem with my tire, I

7     replace it, I don't expect to go back on the

8     road and the following day or the following

9     week have the problem with the same tire

10     again.

11               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

12               MR. STEMPECK:  Just on to closing?

13               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sure.

14               MR. STEMPECK:  The Gaming

15     Commission has to rely on its experienced

16     judges at Plainridge to do their job.

17     Collectively, the three judges there have a

18     wealth of experienced, have observed tens of

19     thousands of races.  We have the three judges

20     up in the box who are able to observe,

21     obviously, with the aid of the sensitive

22     technology, different angles, slow motion

23     capabilities frame by frame, any and all

24     aspects of a race.  In addition, they're
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1     watching it live through the binoculars.  In

2     addition, they have a judge who's on the

3     field who's in a vehicle at the same level as

4     the horses pacing the horses no more than

5     approximately 20 yards from the horses

6     themselves.

7               In this case, we had the three

8     judges, we had the patrol judge, and we had

9     an operator who was struck who confirmed he

10     was struck, and they're all consistent.  This

11     is not a case where we have diverging

12     opinions.  It's not a two-on-one judge

13     decision.

14               The only disputing factor here is

15     Mr. Sumner's testimony.  It's unsubstantiated

16     testimony about something about a misapplied

17     wheel or something wrong with the wheel at

18     some other time.  It really has no bearing on

19     this case.  We don't know if that was an

20     existing issue at the time of this race.  We

21     don't know if that is substantiated or if

22     that was just rumor, rumor amongst people

23     talking.  I mean, not to mention the fact

24     that hearing this information never appeared
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1     on any written submissions today.  It's

2     information that directly benefits his owner

3     and himself, and yet is completely absent

4     from the record.  So I would suggest that it

5     really has no bearing on today's hearing.

6               Due to the unanimous opinion of our

7     judges and the unanimous determination by

8     both the patrol judge as well as the opinion

9     of the driver who was struck and the video

10     itself, which I believe does show an impact;

11     although, I recognize it is difficult to

12     observe, I think you can see an impact as

13     well as a wobbling of the wheel, that I

14     believe the original judgment in this case

15     should stand and it should be affirmed.

16               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Sumner,

17     do you have a closing statement to make?

18               MR. SUMNER:  I'd like to say that

19     from what the video shows, I think I am not

20     guilty.  And the bike wheels, they wobble.

21     They wobble the whole mile because we're

22     racing on stones.  It's called stone dust,

23     and that can get into the tire and make the

24     tire blow, too.
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1               So to take it all into

2     consideration, what I feel is that what

3     Mr. Cushing and Mr. Flanders, when -- what

4     they thought they saw or heard is that the

5     tire blowing because I feel 100 percent

6     confident that I didn't touch the horse's --

7     my horse's foot didn't touch the wheel.  As

8     the video shows, my horse's legs got all

9     extended completely.  If you do hit a wheel,

10     they do not extend completely.  And that's

11     all I've got to say.

12               THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you

13     both.  I'll take it under advisement, and

14     you'll hear from me in due course.  The

15     hearing is closed.

16

17      (Whereupon the hearing was adjourned at

18                    12:14 p.m.)

19

20

21

22

23

24
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